IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1331

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

EUSEBIO HERNANDEZ,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General

RICHARD L. POLIN
Florida Bar No. 0230987
Bureau Chief, Criminal Appeals
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-5441
(305) 377-5655 (fax)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Eusebio Hernandez was charged with first degree murder, attempted first degree murder, conspiracy to commit murder and causing bodily injury during the commission of a felony. (R. 8-18). Henry Cuesta was charged as a codefendant. (R. 8-18).

The alleged victim of the murder was Dulce Diaz. (R. 8). The alleged victim of the attempted murder was Jorge Herrera. (R. 8). Ms. Diaz was defendant Hernandez's ex-wife; Herrera was the ex-wife's current boyfriend. Evidence acquired by the State resulted in the State's belief that defendant Eusebio Hernandez hired co-defendant Cuesta to murder both Diaz and Herrera.

Cuesta gave a sworn statement to the police on April 24, 1998. (R. 227-284). Cuesta provided the police with the following information:

Cuesta had been friendly with Anthony, whose father's name was Eusebio; Cuesta did not know the last name. (R. 232-33). Cuesta had met Eusebio in March, 1998. (R. 234). Eusebio asked Cuesta if Cuesta wanted to make some money and told Cuesta that he, Eusebio, had a personal problem that he needed help with - he needed to have two people killed. (R. 234-35). Eusebio said "that they had their religion" and that Cuesta would "have to call and make an appointment to be able to see them" and that Cuesta would then kill them during that appointment. (R. 235).

Cuesta and Eusebio Hernandez met again, a few days later. (R. 237). Hernandez said that he would pay Cuesta \$6,000 for killing the two named individuals. (R. 237). Cuesta accepted the offer. (R. 238). Hernandez said that the two intended victims were involved in Santeria. (R. 238). Hernandez reiterated that Cuesta should set up an appointment to meet with them and kill them at that time. (R. 239). Hernandez said that he would get a gun for Cuesta. (R. 239). Hernandez further told Cuesta that the phone number for the victims would be in a newspaper available at the supermarkets in a section regarding individuals who "practice that religion." (R. 240). Cuesta obtained the phone number from the newspaper, made the call a few days later, and set up the appointment with the intended victims. (R. 240-41).

Cuesta saw Hernandez two days prior to the date set for the appointment. (R. 243). Hernandez told Cuesta to wear a beaded necklace, and Hernandez gave that to Cuesta on the day of the scheduled appointment. (R. 244-47). Cuesta returned to Hernandez on April $2^{\rm nd}$, the day before the scheduled appointment, and Hernandez engaged in some kind of ritual with chickens and candles at that time. (R. 245-46).

The two met again on Friday, April $3^{\rm rd}$, at which time Hernandez gave Cuesta a gun to use. (R. 247). Cuesta called Hernandez on Friday morning, and arrangements were made to meet

at the residence of Hernandez's son, Anthony. (R. 249). After that call, Cuesta called the intended victims and spoke to the woman about a spiritual reading appointment for that morning; it was set for some time between 11 and noon. (R. 249).

Cuesta then went to Anthony Hernandez's house and met with Eusebio Hernandez again. (R. 251). At this meeting, Hernandez gave Cuesta a car, a key to the car, beads and a gun. (R. 251-52). Eusebio Hernandez told Cuesta to call when it was over and to tell him what happened. (R. 254).

Cuesta and Hernandez went to a shopping center parking lot, where they dropped the car off. (R. 255-56). Cuesta then changed cars, and Hernandez again told Cuesta to call when it was done so that Hernandez could get the money out of the bank. (R. 256).

Later that morning, Cuesta drove to the victims' residence for the scheduled appointment. (R. 257). He took the beads that Hernandez had given him, took the gun, and went for the appointment. (R. 257-58). Cuesta had never seen the two intended victims before. (R. 258). The man brought him into a room and started throwing beads around. (R. 258-59). The man was telling Cuesta about Cuesta's problems. (R. 259-60). Eventually, Cuesta got scared and left, without having killed the victims. (R. 260). Cuesta did tell the intended victims that he would call again. (R. 260-61).

Cuesta then called Eusebio Hernandez and told him that he did not kill the victims; Hernandez set up another meeting between them, to be held at the residence of Hernandez's son, Anthony. (R. 261). When they met, Hernandez told Cuesta to "go back and take care of it." (R. 263).

Cuesta did go back, with the gun, and again entered the victims' residence. (R. 264-65). The male victim had been away, and, after he returned home, some 10-15 minutes later, they spoke for awhile about Cuesta's supposed personal problems. (R. 265-66). When the male victim was not looking, Cuesta pulled out the gun and shot the man. (R. 266-67). The woman then screamed, and Cuesta shot her. (R. 268-70). Cuesta then left and drove away. (R. 270-71).

Cuesta returned to the parking lot, changed cars again, threw away the keys to the car the defendant had given him, and kept the gun in his girlfriend's car. (R. 272-73). Later on, Cuesta called Hernandez and told him what had happened. (R. 275-77). Hernandez asked if they "were dead," and Cuesta said, "I guess." (R. 277). They made arrangements to meet again, and Hernandez then gave Cuesta \$6,000, and Cuesta returned the gun and beads. (R. 277-79). Cuesta said he left Hernandez's car in the shopping center parking lot, but that he had thrown away the keys. (R. 279).

Three weeks after the offenses, Cuesta, cooperating with law enforcement officers, participated in a controlled phone call to Hernandez. (R. 391, 409). The State filed a motion in limine seeking to have the contents of that telephonic conversation between Cuesta and Hernandez admitted into evidence as adoptive admissions by Hernandez. (R. 391-97). The defense filed a motion to suppress the recorded phone conversation on the grounds that it violated Hernandez's confrontation clause rights. (R. 403-407).

The trial court heard legal arguments as to the admissibility of the phone conversation on May 1, 2003. (R. 467, et seq.). At the outset of that hearing, the transcription of the phone conversation was accepted into evidence by the court. (R. 470).

At the beginning of the phone call, Cuesta states, "Hey, this is Henry, brother." (R. 409). Hernandez responds: "Damn, Henry don't call me." (R. 409). Cuesta explains that he has a big problem: he is "escaping today," and has a car ready, but he has no money and needs \$500. (R. 410). Hernandez responds: "I don't have a single penny, brother." (R. 410).

Cuesta then says: "Hey, brother, I heard some things, brother that ah, hey I didn't know that woman was your ex-wife.

You, you didn't tell me that." (R. 411). The conversation continues as follows:

Hernandez: Hey, compadre, don't say anything about that, brother.

Cuesta: Why didn't you say anything, brother?

Hernandez: Don't' tell me anything about that. Don't say anything about that. Hey.

Cuesta: Tell me.

Hernandez: Ah, you can't call me on the telephone, brother. You can't call me, brother. You cannot call me, I know what I am telling you.

Cuesta: Tell me when, when can you get me the money, brother. I have to leave.

Hernandez: I don't know, brother, I have to get this now, you took me by surprise.

Cuesta: I need it, I need it today, brother, today.

Hernandez: Where am I going to get it from, my God, I have a million problems now, because of this. I even had to ask for money for me also. Where am I going to get that from, brother?

Cuesta: Find out, brother, I need it because I have to leave today. I need to leave today. I need it as soon as possible. I don't know where from, but get it because I have to . . . I don't know, I can't man. I am going crazy here.

Hernandez: You, you haven't had
any problems, right?

 $\mbox{Cuesta: No, I just want to leave} \label{eq:cuesta:No} \mbox{\ensureman.} \mbox{\ensureman.} \mbox{\ensureman.}$

• •

Hernandez: You can't call me anymore. You can't call me anymore, brother. I will let you know with Javier this, this afternoon and I'll let you know around eight or nine at night. If I don't get in touch with you, is because I was unable to get it.

Cuesta: No, but I'm going crazy, brother. I don't know why you made me do that, man (sigh).

Hernandez: Man, you cannot call me. I know what I am saying.

Cuesta: Why did you make me kill him, brother, tell me? I am going crazy brother, I am nervous, I, I've never been like this in my life man. I can't even sleep, I am always looking out the window man, I don't know (sigh).

Hernandez: Don't call me, don't call me. I, I will try to see you, Ok?

Cuesta: I, I need the money for today, now, now. You have to call somebody right now, I need it.

. . .

Cuesta: But why don't you want me to call you, brother? I need to get in touch with you to, to ah, for the money man.

 $\mbox{ Hernandez: Man, they were here,} \\ \mbox{man, they questioned me and everything.}$

Cuesta: Who, who?

Hernandez: The police, calm down, you cannot call me on the phone.

Cuesta: But why did they go by there?

Hernandez: Talking to me.

Cuesta: About what?

Hernandez: About the problem with those people. You cannot call me, you cannot call me, I know what I am saying. You cannot call me.

Cuesta: Yeah, but the thing is that I did it. They will ask you about that.

Hernandez: No, they didn't ask me, but calm down, there's no problem, calm down. Don't worry about that.

. . .

Cuesta: No you, no, if you took out \$6,000.00 dollars, brother, you can get me at least \$500.00, all I need is \$500.00.

Hernandez: I don't have it. I don't have it, and you can't keep calling me here. . . .

. . .

Hernandez: Calm down, brother, you can't say any of this on the telephone.

. . .

Hernandez: Brother you can't talk to me on the phone, for God's sake calm down!

Cuesta: But why, brother, nobody is listening in or anything that's ah, no.

Hernandez: Brother, they were over here, and I don't know if there's a tap on my phone. Where are you calling me from, your house?

. . .

Cuesta: Brother, you have to get that money for me, brother, and I am out of here fast.

Hernandez: I don't have, I don't have, I don't have a penny, brother. You have your car already, calm down.

Cuesta: Hey, this man is still alive, brother. I am afraid that this man might find me.

Hernandez: He's alive, he's alive, but hey look, why don't you leave, calmly? I, I don't have a damn penny, brother, I am in hot water.

(R. 411-419). The remainder of the conversation is primarily Cuesta's reiteration of his need for money, Hernandez's protestations that he has none, Hernandez's assertions that he will try to get \$100, and an agreement to meet later in the day at the Micosukkee Indian reservation or the Burger King "where we met that day." (R. 419-22). Just prior to the end of the conversation, Cuesta refers to the gun:

Cuesta: Yeah, and where did you throw away that gun?

Hernandez: What, man?

Cuesta: I, when I gave you the gun, where did you throw it away at?

Hernandez: What, man? What do you mean man? Hey.

(R. 422).

The trial court heard legal arguments on the motions regarding the admissibility of the conversation on May 1, 2003. (R. 467, et seq.). After the judge ruled in favor of the defendant's motion to exclude the evidence (R. 486), the judge stated: "It is not so much I agree with the ruling, it's just for judicial economy sake research at the Third [District Court of Appeal]." (R. 486). The judge then reiterated that he was granting the defense's motion and added: "I do wish to make it clear once again this is more for the purpose of judicial economy clearing up this issue now than going through a two week trial and then having to come back arguably in 2 years make no sense." (R. 493). The court thereafter entered a written order suppressing the tape recorded phone call "because the admission of same violates the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights." (R. 449).

The State filed a notice of appeal, seeking review of the order in the Third District Court of Appeal. While the appeal was pending, the Supreme Court of the United States rendered its decision in Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004).

The Third District first concurred with Hernandez that the State's notice of appeal must be treated as a petition for writ of certiorari:

. . Rule 9.140(c)(1), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, authorizes the State to seek direct appellate review of an order "suppressing before trial confessions, admissions, or evidence obtained by search and seizure." The non-final pre-trial order being appealed by the State here is not listed in Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(c)(1) as an order which may be appealed by the State. Thus, we treat the notice of appeal as a petition for writ off certiorari. However, we deny the petition because the State has failed to demonstrate that the trial court's order is violation of clearly established resulting in a miscarriage of justice.

(App. 4). The lower court then proceeded to conclude that the admission of the telephone conversation would violate the "Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause because Hernandez did not have the opportunity to cross-examine the co-defendant, even if the statements were otherwise admissible into evidence under the hearsay exception for adoptive admissions." The court continued:

As Hernandez points out in his brief, although in Globe v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S119 (Fla. March 18, 2004), the Florida Supreme Court held that the admission of co-defendant statements as adoptive admissions did not violate the Confrontation Clause, Globe was based on the decision of the United States Supreme Court in Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 (1980), which was overruled by Crawford. As such, this court is not bound by Globe.

(App. 4). The lower court then found that the statements of the co-defendant, Cuesta, were "testimonial" under Crawford, and

that the admission of those statements would violate the Confrontation Clause, because the "police set up a controlled situation, in the hopes that Hernandez would incriminate himself." (App. 5).

Lastly, the Court concluded that the statements and/or silence of Hernandez did not qualify as adoptive admissions because "there was nothing in the statements made by the codefendant [Cuesta] that were so accusatory in nature that Hernandez's silence could be taken as an assent to its truth." (App. 8). The lower court also found that portions of the recorded conversation reflected a lack of certainty on the part of Hernandez regarding what Cuesta was talking about. (App. 8).

The State then invoked the discretionary review jurisdiction of this Court, based on alleged conflicts between the lower court's decision and decisions of this Court or other district courts of appeal regarding the issue of the right to appeal and the issue of whether the lower court's decision was contrary to this Court's decision in Globe v. State, 877 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 2004), with respect to the applicability of the Confrontation Clause to adoptive admissions.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in holding that the order excluding the statements during the telephone conversation was not appealable and was reviewable only by way of certiorari. Rule 9.140(c)(1)(B), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure clearly authorizes appeals from orders suppressing admissions, and that provision encompasses the suppression order in the instant case.

The lower court also erred in holding that statements made by Cuesta did not constitute adoptive admissions on the part of the defendant Hernandez. Cuesta's statements to Hernandez included several comments which accused Hernandez of involvement in criminal conduct, or otherwise attributed to Hernandez knowledge of criminal activities. The statements were such as would reasonably call for a denial or protestation of ignorance by one who was not involved in the underlying criminal conduct.

Lastly, the lower court erred in holding that the admission of Cuesta's statements would violate the Confrontation Clause. This is not true for several reasons. First, in the aftermath of Crawford v. Washington, infra, this Court has already held that adoptive admissions do not violate the Confrontation Clause. Second, other statements by Cuesta, which may not constitute adoptive admissions, are not hearsay at all, and are not introduced to prove the truth of the matter; they exist only

to put Hernandez's statements in context. Several post-Crawford decisions have already recognized that such statements do not violate the Confrontation Clause. Third, Cuesta's statements in the instant case are similar to statements of co-conspirators, and the Supreme Court, in Crawford, has already recognized that co-conspirator statements are not "testimonial" and are thus not violative of the Confrontation Clause. That holds true even when the "co-conspirator" to whom a suspect makes statements is an undercover officer. The same principles would render all statements between Hernandez and Cuesta nontestimonial under Crawford and thus admissible without violating the Confrontation Clause.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AN ORDER SUPPRESSING A STATEMENT MADE BY A CODEFENDANT IS REVIEWABLE BY CERTIORARI RATHER THAN APPEAL.

The order of the trial court granted the defendant's motion to suppress, "resulting in a suppression of the subject tape recorded phone call because the admission of same violates the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights." (R. 449). Rule 9.140(c)(1)(B), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, permits the state to appeal an order "suppressing before trial confessions, admissions, or evidence obtained by search and seizure." The lower court erred in holding that this provision is inapplicable to the order herein.

The Third District's opinion does not clearly state why the court believes the above rule is inapplicable. Without elaboration, the lower court merely held that the order being appealed by the State was not listed in Rule 9.140(c)(1). There are only two possible reasons for the lower court's conclusion: first, that the phone conversation which was suppressed did not involve "admissions" and was therefore not covered by the quoted rule; second, that the quoted rule applies only when the confessions, admissions or other evidence are suppressed due to search and seizure violations. Neither of those reasons has any merit.

If the lower court is suggesting that the order appealed in this case is non-appealable because it does not contain any therefore beyond the "admissions" and is scope of 9.140(c)(1)(B), the court's reasoning is erroneous in several respects. First, regardless of whether defendant Hernandez's constitute adoptive admissions of statements codefendant and regardless of whether statements, Cuesta's Cuesta's statements are admissible, any utterance bу constitutes an admission. As the Third District held in State v. Elkin, 595 So. 2d 119, 120 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), any statement by a party opponent constitutes an "admission" for purposes of the hearsay rule in § 90.803(18), Florida Statutes. This is true regardless of whether the statement contains a "confession" or any admission of guilt. It is an admission "simply because it is the party opponent's statement and because the party opponent cannot complain about not cross-examining him or herself." 595 So. 2d at 120. Thus, since the phone conversation includes, inter alia, statements by defendant Hernandez, it necessarily includes admissions of Hernandez, and the suppression order aspects of the recorded conversation extends to all Hernandez's statements/admissions and Cuesta's statements, whose status as admissions adopted by Hernandez is disputed by the parties. Thus, the order appealed, at a minimum, includes some

admissions which have been suppressed, even if other portions of the order include matters which are not admissions.

Furthermore, if the lower court is suggesting that the order is not appealable because it does not include "admissions," the lower court is erroneously putting the cart before the horse. Such reasoning, by the lower court, effectively means that in order to decide whether an order is appealable, the appellate court must first determine the issue on the merits - i.e., decide whether the statements are adoptive admissions first, and then, if the conclusion is negative, deny the right to an appeal. Any right to appeal, of necessity, exists prior to the determination of the merits of the cause of action.

The second possible reason for the lower court's conclusion is an erroneous belief that any orders appealed under Rule 9.140(c)(1)(B) must be obtained through search and seizure, including "admissions" or "confessions." That position is erroneous, both legally and grammatically. The phrase "search and seizure" qualifies only the immediately preceding phrase, "other evidence," and does not relate back to confessions or admissions.

Either of the above theories of the lower court is repudiated by this Court's decision in <u>State v. Palmore</u>, 495 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1986). There, this Court held that an order

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