IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 04-1331

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-VS-

EUSEBIO HERNANDEZ,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1963

HOWARD K. BLUMBERG Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 264385

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves a unique set of facts in which a police officer engaged the services of an individual in police custody and charged with a homicide to assist the police in setting up a controlled tape-recorded telephone call with the defendant for the express purpose of manufacturing evidence against the defendant. Under such facts, the Third District Court of Appeal correctly held that (1) the State did not have the right to appeal the order excluding the out-of-court statements of the individual working with the police officer, as Rule 9.140(c)(1) does not give the State the right to appeal such an order; (2) admission of the individual-s out-of-court statements would violate the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause under the decision of the United States Supreme Court in *Crawford* v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004), because the out-of-court statements resulted from the involvement of government officers in the production of testimony with an eye toward trial; (3) the out-of-court statements are not admissible as adoptive admissions because the individual who made the statements was, at the time he made the statements, an alleged accomplice of the defendant who was working with the police in an attempt to manufacture evidence against the defendant; and (4) the out-of-court statements are not admissible as adoptive admissions because those statements do not meet the requirements for admission as adoptive admissions.

Thus, the district court of appeal's decision to treat the State's appeal as a petition for writ of common law certiorari does not conflict with any decisions from either this Court or another district court of appeal because this case involves an order excluding the out-of-court statements of an individual working with a police officer. Furthermore, because this Court's decision in *Globe v. State*, 877 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 2004) does not involve out-of-court statements that resulted from the involvement of government officers in the production of testimony with an eye toward trial, the decision of the district court of appeal in this case does not misapply this Court's decision in *Globe*. Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should conclude upon further consideration that jurisdiction was improvidently granted and dismiss this review proceeding. Alternatively, this Court should approve the decision of the district court of appeal.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY TREATED THE STATE-S APPEAL AS A PETITION FOR WRIT OF COMMON LAW CERTIORARI, AS A NON-FINAL PRETRIAL ORDER EXCLUDING THE OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS OF AN INDIVIDUAL WORKING WITH THE POLICE, ON HEARSAY AND SIXTH AMENDMENT CONFRONTATION CLAUSE GROUNDS, IS NOT LISTED IN FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.140(C)(1) AS AN ORDER WHICH MAY BE APPEALED BY THE STATE.

The order which the State appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal in this case is an order which excludes from evidence at trial out-of-court statements made by a co-defendant at the specific direction of a police officer, in a controlled telephone call which was set up and taped by that police officer, on the ground that admission of the co-defendant=s statements would violate the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause.³ Such an order is not listed in Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(c)(1), which sets forth the orders that may be appealed by the State. If a non-final pretrial order does not involve one of the subjects enumerated in Rule 9.140(c)(1), the State is not authorized to seek direct appellate review of such order. The State=s only remedy to seek review of non-final pretrial orders not listed in Rule 9.140(c)(1) is by writ of common law certiorari.

³A trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. *Globe v. State*, 877 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 2004).

State v. Pettis, 520 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 1988); *State v. Gates*, 826 So. 2d 1064 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); *State v. Sowers*, 763 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

Contrary to the claim made by the State, the statements made by co-defendant Cuesta at the specific direction of a police officer in a controlled telephone call which was set up and taped by that police officer do not fall within the class of statements which may be considered admissions, so as to render an order excluding such statements appealable by the State under Rule 9.140(c)(1)(B), as an order Asuppressing before trial confessions, admissions, or evidence obtained by search and seizure.[@] In *McPhadder v. State*, 475 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 1985) this Court held that the State could not appeal a non-final pretrial order striking statements made by an informant on electronic recordings on the ground that the informant was not available to testify and the statements were hearsay, because such an order was not listed in Rule 9.140(c)(1).⁴ In *State v. Brea*, 530

⁴In its initial brief on the merits, the State asserts: AIn <u>State v. McPhadder</u>, 452 So. 2d 1017 (Fla. 1984), *this Court* held that the above rule [9.140(c)(1)(B)] applied to permit the State to appeal an order suppressing a tape-recorded conversation in which the defendant was taking part in plans to supply an informant with illegal drugs.[@] (Brief of Petitioner at 18). The 1984 decision in *State v. McPhadder* which can be found at 452 So. 2d 1017 is the decision of the *First District Court of Appeal* holding that the State has the right to appeal such an order under Rule 9.140(c)(1)(B). However, in this Courts subsequent decision in *McPhadder v. State*, 475 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 1985), *this Court* quashed the decision of the district court of appeal and held that the State could *not* appeal a non-final pretrial order striking statements made by an informant on electronic recordings on the ground that the informant was not available to testify and the statements were hearsay, because such an order was not listed in Rule 9.140(c)(1). Thus, while respondent wholeheartedly agrees with the States claim that, AThe statements of the informant in <u>McPhadder</u> appear to be indistinguishable from the statements of

So. 2d 924, 926 (Fla. 1988), this Court explained that the pre-trial order in *McPhadder* was not appealable by the State because it was made by an informant, not a co-conspirator or agent of the defendant, and A[a] statement made by an informant is not made by someone acting in concert with the defendant and does not fall within the class of statements which may be considered admissions. *See, e.g.*, ' 90.803(18), Fla.Stat.

(1985).@

Similarly, as the statements excluded in the instant case were made by someone who was acting as an informant in concert with the police, rather than as a co-conspirator or agent of the defendant⁵ those statements do not fall within the class of statements

codefendant Cuesta in the instant case, for the purpose of applying Rule 9.140(c)(1)(B)@ (Brief of Petitioner at 19), the necessary conclusion from that claim is that the State does *not* have the right to appeal an order excluding such statements.

⁵Under the usual set of circumstances where the State seeks to introduce evidence of out-of-court statements as adoptive admissions, the out-of-court statements were made during conversations concerning criminal activities between the defendant and a co-conspirator or agent of the defendant. *See Privett v. State*, 417 So. 2d 805 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982)(defendant present and heard extensive discussions by others of bank robberies and his participation in them); *Nelson v. State*, 748 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 1999)(discussions concerning facts of murder, including defendant=s involvement in the incident, while defendant and three other persons were in car driving towards Daytona Beach and while all four were present in a hotel room in Daytona Beach); *Tresvant v. State*, 396 So.2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA)(discussions concerning bribery conspirators), *review denied*, 408 So.2d 1096 (Fla.1981). In these situations, the State would have the right to appeal an order excluding such statements under *Brea* as they would be statements by someone acting in concert with the defendant and therefore would fall within the class of statements which may be considered admissions.

which may be considered admissions for purposes of the State=s right to appeal under Rule 9.140(c)(1)(B). The district court of appeal therefore properly treated the State=s appeal as a petition for writ of common law certiorari. As that decision does not conflict with any decisions from either this Court or another district court of appeal, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should conclude upon further consideration that jurisdiction was improvidently granted and dismiss this review proceeding. Alternatively, this Court should approve the decision of the district court of appeal insofar as it treated the State's appeal as a petition for writ of common law certiorari.

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT UNDER THE UNIQUE FACTS OF THIS CASE, ADMISSION OF CO-DEFENDANT CUESTA-S OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS WOULD VIOLATE THE SIXTH AMENDMENT CONFRONTATION CLAUSE UNDER THE DECISION OF THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT IN *CRAWFORD V. WASHINGTON*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. CT. 1354 (2004), BECAUSE THE OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS RESULTED FROM THE INVOLVEMENT OF GOVERNMENT OFFICERS IN THE PRODUCTION OF TESTIMONY WITH AN EYE TOWARD TRIAL.

In *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004), the United States Supreme Court Achanged the legal landscape for determining whether the admission of . . . hearsay statements violates the accused=s right[s]@ under the Confrontation Clause. *Horton v. Allen*, 370 F. 3d 75, 83 (1st Cir. 2004), *cert. denied*, 125 S. Ct. 971 (2005). The Court in *Crawford*, partially abrogating its prior decision in *Ohio v. Roberts*, 448 U.S. 56 (1980), held that Atestimonial@hearsay statements may not be introduced against a defendant unless the declarant is unavailable at trial and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. 541 U.S. at ---, 124 S.Ct. at 1374. This outcome obtains regardless of whether the statement at issue falls within a firmly rooted hearsay exception or has a particularized guarantee of trustworthiness. Insofar as Atestimonial@ evidence is concerned, *Crawford* replaced the reliability analysis mandated by *Roberts* with a virtually *per se* rule of exclusion.

The Crawford Court expressly declined to provide a comprehensive definition of

Atestimonial statements.@*Crawford*, 541 U.S. at ---, 124 S.Ct. at 1374. The Court did, however, reference several Aformulations of [the] core class of xtestimonial=statements.@ *Id.* 541 U.S. at ---, 124 S.Ct. at 1364. One of these formulations defines a testimonial statement as one Axmade under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial. = 541 U.S. at ---, 124 S.Ct. at 1364 (quoting *amicus curiae* brief of the National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers). And in a statement particularly relevant to this case, the Court noted the following concerning testimonial statements:

Involvement of government officers in the production of testimony with an eye toward trial presents unique potential for prosecutorial abuse--a fact borne out time and again throughout a history with which the Framers were keenly familiar. This consideration does not evaporate when testimony happens to fall within some broad, modern hearsay exception, even if that exception might be justifiable in other circumstances.

541 U.S. at ---, 124 S. Ct. at 1367, n.7.

Considering the unique set of facts in this case, it is clear that the out-of-court statements of Henry Cuesta are testimonial hearsay statements that may not be introduced against Eusebio Hernandez because Cuesta will be unavailable at trial and Hernandez had no prior opportunity to cross-examine Cuesta. At the time he made the out-of-court statements, Cuesta was in police custody and was working with a police detective who had set up the controlled and recorded telephone call between Cuesta and Hernandez for the very purpose of manufacturing evidence against Hernandez. Under such circumstances, Cuesta had every reason to believe that his statements would be available for use at a later trial. Thus, this case presents a classic example of A[i]nvolvement of government officers in the production of testimony with an eye toward trial, *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at ---, 124 S.Ct at 1367 n.7, and therefore Cuesta=s out-ofcourt statements are testimonial within the meaning of *Crawford*. *See State v. Snowden*, 385 Md. 64, 867 A.2d 314, 324 (2005)(Athe uniting theme underlying the *Crawford* holding is that when a statement is made in the course of a criminal investigation initiated by the government, the Confrontation Clause forbids its introduction unless the defendant has had an opportunity to cross-examine the declarant[®]).⁶

This Court=s decision on rehearing in *Globe v. State*, 877 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 2004) does not compel a contrary result. In *Globe*, this Court considered the admissibility of the out-of-court statements of Globe=s co-defendant and fellow inmate, Andrew Busby. Shortly after another inmate was murdered, a police official asked Globe if he was willing to make a statement. Globe answered that he would only be willing to give a statement if he could do so in the presence of Busby. Globe and Busby were then advised of their

⁶Under the usual set of circumstances where the State seeks to introduce evidence of out-of-court statements as adoptive admissions, the out-of-court statements were made during conversations concerning criminal activities between the defendant and a co-conspirator or agent of the defendant, with no involvement of government officers in the conversations. In these situations, the statements would not be considered testimonial because they were not the result of involvement of government officers in the production of testimony with an eye toward trial, and accordingly their admission against the defendant would not violate the Confrontation Clause under *Crawford*.

Miranda rights, after which they gave a joint tape-recorded statement in which they admitted to killing the victim. In that joint statement, Globe verbally affirmed what Busby said and added significant details to Busby=s statement. Under these circumstances, this Court held that *Crawford* did not bar the admission of Busby=s out-of-court statements against Globe.

Considering the fact that Globe specifically demanded that Busby be present at the time he spoke to the police officers, it can hardly be claimed that *Globe* is a case where Busby=s out-of-court statements were the result of **A**[i]nvolvement of government officers in the production of testimony with an eye toward trial, @Crawford, 541 U.S. at ---, 124 S.Ct at 1367 n.7. As previously demonstrated, however, the instant case does present a classic example of such involvement by government officers in the production of testimony with an eye toward trial. It is undisputed in this case that at the time Cuesta made the out-of-court statements which the State now seeks to admit into evidence at his trial, Cuesta was working with a police detective who had set up the controlled and recorded telephone call between Cuesta and Hernandez for the very purpose of manufacturing evidence against Hernandez. As Globe does not involve out-of-court statements generated by the police under such circumstances, the holding of that case does not control the disposition of the *Crawford* issue in this case. Thus, the decision of the district court of appeal in this case does not misapply this Court's decision in *Globe*, and therefore it is respectfully submitted that this Court should conclude upon further

consideration that jurisdiction was improvidently granted and dismiss this review proceeding.

The State=s alternative arguments to avoid *Crawford* are equally unavailing. In its brief on the merits filed in this case, the State claims that *Crawford* does not bar the admission of Cuesta=s out-of-court statements because the State does not seek to admit those statements into evidence at trial to prove the truth of the statements:

Subsequent to <u>Crawford</u>, statements comparable to those of Cuesta have been deemed admissible under at least two distinct theories: first, that such statements are not offered to prove the truth of the matter and thus do not violate the Confrontation Clause; second, that such statements are used only as a means for establishing the context and meaning of the defendant=s own statements, and thus do not violate the Confrontation Clause.

(Brief of Petitioner at 35).

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